IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 23-1131

ELIZABETH ROBERTS,

Plaintiff & Counterclaim Defendant/Appellant,

vs.

ERIC ROBERTS, as trustee of the W. DAVID ROBERTS
REVOCABLE TRUST, DAVE ROBERTS GROWTH AND
VENTURES, INC. & ERIC ROBERTS as personal
representative of the ESTATE OF WILLIAM DAVID
ROBERTS,

Defendant & Counterclaim Plaintiff/Appellee,

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT FINAL BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND
FOR POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE CRAIG DREISMEIER

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

/s/ Jordan T. Glaser

Jordan T. Glaser, AT0010927
Brody D. Swanson, # AT0013489
of PETERS LAW FIRM, P.C.
233 Pearl Street
Council Bluffs, IA 51503
Telephone (712) 328-3157

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER “PARTIAL REVOCATIONS” OR AMENDMENTS OF PREMARITAL AGREEMENTS ARE ALLOWED BY IOWA CODE SECTION 596.7

IOWA CODE § 596.7 (2022)

In re Marriage of Erpelding, 917 N.W.2d 235 (Iowa 2018)

Meinders v. Dunkerston Cmty. Sch. Dist., 645 N.W.2d 632 (Iowa 2002)

Hansen v. Hansen, No. 17-0889, 2018 Iowa App. LEXIS 921 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct.
10, 2018)

H.R. 2234, 83rd Leg., 2nd Sess. (Iowa 2010)

S.S.B. 1196, 85th Leg., 1st Sess. (Iowa 2013)

II. WHETHER OR NOT THE PURPORTED PARTIAL REVOCATION OF A PREMARITAL AGREEMENT MEETS BASIC CONTRACTUAL PRINCIPLES

Recker v. Gustafson, 279 N.W.2d 744 (Iowa 1979)

III. WHETHER THE PURPORTED PARTIAL REVOCATION IS UNCONSCIONABLE AND VIOLATES PUBLIC POLICY

Bartlett Grain Co. v. Sheeder, 829 N.W.2d 18 (Iowa 2013)

Norris v. Norris, 174 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1970)

IV. WHETHER OR NOT THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE ENTERED JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW AS TO DEFENDANT/APPELLEE’S COUNTERCLAIMS

Ferris v. Barrett, 95 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1959)

Peak v. Adams, 799 N.W.2d 535 Iowa 2011)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should remain with the Iowa Supreme Court as it involves important, novel issues related to the interpretation of Iowa Code Section 596.7 and whether “partial revocations” or amendments are permitted by that code section or any other provision of Iowa law. This appeal also involves important, essential issues related to premarital agreements and marital relationships in Iowa.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

W. David Roberts (“David”) died on April 2, 2022 at the age of eighty-three. His son Eric Roberts (“Eric”), his nominated executor and sole heir, filed his Petition for Probate on April 25, 2022 in Shelby County Case No. ESPR014393. On April 26, 2022 the Shelby County District Court issued letters of appointment to Eric.

On June 30, 2022 Elizabeth Roberts (Elizabeth), David’s surviving spouse, filed her Motion to Enforce Antenuptial Agreement or Election of Surviving Spouse for Elective Share. On July 20, 2022 Elizabeth filed a Petition for Declaratory Judgment in Shelby County Case No. EQCV020496 naming Eric Roberts, as trustee of the W. David Roberts Revocable Trust, Dave Roberts Growth and Ventures, Inc. & Eric Roberts, as personal representative of the Estate of William David Roberts as Defendants in that matter.

In addition to filing her suit in EQCV020496 on July 20, 2022, on that same day Elizabeth filed a motion to consolidate ESPR0143393 and EQCV020496 and to specifically assign Judge Craig Dreisemeier to both cases. An order to consolidate was entered by Judge Dreisemeier on August 8, 2023. That order directed that all further pleadings related to both cases would be filed in ESPR014393.

On September 27, 2022, Elizabeth filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (“MSJ1”), her primary argument being that the purported partial revocation executed in 2017 is not authorized by Section 596.7. On September 30, 2022, Eric’s attorneys filed their Answer to Elizabeth’s petition for declaratory judgment and further filed their own counterclaims, alleging that in the event Elizabeth was successful in enforcing the original premarital agreement Eric sought restitution for supposed “unjust enrichment” Elizabeth had received during the marriage.

Elizabeth filed an additional motion for summary judgment (“MSJ2”) on March 14, 2023, seeking to have Eric’s counterclaims dismissed. Eric filed his briefs in resistance to both MSJ1 and MSJ2 on April 14, 2023. Elizabeth then filed her Reply Brief on April 21, 2023. The court set both MSJ1 and MSJ2 for hearing on April 24, 2023; although ultimately that hearing took place on May 30, 2023, pursuant to a May 5, 2023 Order entered by the court and was transcribed. On July 12, 2023, Judge Dreisemeier entered his order ruling on Elizabeth’s MSJ1 and

MSJ2. The court found that the 2017 purported partial revocation was valid and enforceable, entered judgment against Elizabeth, and ruled that Eric's counterclaims were moot due to judgment being entered against Elizabeth.

On July 13, 2023 Elizabeth sought to clarify with the court that the July 12, 2023 order was, in fact, a final order and the court confirmed that it was a final order in an additional order entered on July 14, 2023. Elizabeth then filed her Notice of Appeal with the Shelby County District Court on July 14, 2023.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Elizabeth and David were married on April 1, 1993, in the state of Iowa. One day after their twenty-nine-year anniversary, David passed away on April 2, 2022. Eric is David's sole heir pursuant to David's estate plan and, if the trial court's order stands, would inherit approximately \$16,000,000. *See* Inventory Report filed January 24, 2023. Elizabeth is David's surviving spouse. David accumulated most of his wealth in the form of Southwest Iowa real estate holdings. *Id.* Prior to their marriage in 1993, David and Elizabeth signed the "Antenuptial Contract" in March of 1993. It has 12 total paragraphs, but it has two essential paragraphs to understanding this entire case: paragraphs 4 and 8.

Paragraph 4 prohibits either spouse from seeking "claims of any kind against the estate of the other for any reason or by way of any right as the surviving spouse of such decedent for dower, statutory right, election . . . and the Parties hereto do

hereby waive any claim they might have for any such right or any claim of every kind or character, except as specifically provided in paragraph 8 hereafter.” (App. 9-17).

Paragraph 8 states in pertinent part, “It is further agreed that in the event the marriage between the parties hereto is terminated by death of either of the parties hereto, the survivor of the parties shall receive one-third of ALL (net equity in) real property of the deceased.” (App. 9-17). All the parties hereto agree that the Antenuptial Contract is valid and enforceable. *See generally* the pleadings filed in this matter.

In December of 2017, David and Elizabeth signed the purported “Partial Revocation of Antenuptial Contract” (hereinafter “Purported Partial Revocation”). This document claims to “revoke” paragraph 8 of the Antenuptial Contract as being “inconsistent with the desires of Dave and Elizabeth and is inconsistent with their conduct as separate waivers of downer interests have previously been executed and recorded.” (App. 54).

Elizabeth was not aware at the time she signed the Purported Partial Revocation that David had not included her in his estate plan. (App. 42-43). Elizabeth did not understand what the Purported Partial Revocation sought to accomplish when she signed it. (App. 42). She had a very brief interaction with David and then signed the document the following day. (App. 166-167). David told

Elizabeth, “We need to make sure that everything stays out of probate, and that signing this would make sure that happened and the family would be taken care of.” (App. 166-167).

Elizabeth belatedly realized that the Purported Partial Revocation only benefited Eric and not her or her family. (App. 208). Unfortunately for Elizabeth, the Purported Partial Revocation did not “take care of her”, and this scheme was by design as can be seen in the September 1, 2016 letter attorney Jack Ruesch sent to his client David. (App. 56-57). In that letter, Ruesch alerts David to the problems posed by the Antenuptial Contract by writing: “Your situation is somewhat complicated by the antenuptial agreement because that says that regardless of the waiver of an elective share, as provided in the antenuptial agreement, the surviving spouse is nevertheless entitled to a one-third interest in all real estate. Consequently, even with this waiver under the antenuptial agreement, she would be entitled to a one-third interest in the property.” (App. 56).

Over a year later, Ruesch and David had found what they believed to be the solution to David’s problem of how he would cut his spouse of almost thirty years out of his estate plan and instead transfer all of his wealth to Eric: the Purported Partial Revocation. (App. 54-57; 286-288). Ruesch exclusively spoke to David in relation to the Purported Partial Revocation and the alleged “separate agreements” referenced in his affidavit and attached thereto. (App. 56-57; 286-288).

ARGUMENT

I. PRESERVATION OF ERROR

All matters at issue in this appeal were timely appealed and properly preserved.

II. STANDARD AND SCOPE OF REVIEW

A court should grant summary judgment if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. In other words, summary judgment is appropriate if the record reveals a conflict only concerns the legal consequences of undisputed facts. When reviewing a court's decision to grant summary judgment, we examine the record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and we draw all legitimate inferences the evidence bears in order to establish the existence of questions of fact. *Jones v. Univ of Iowa*, 836 N.W.2d 127, 139-40 (Iowa 2013).

The party resisting a motion for summary judgment “must set forth specific facts showing that a genuine factual issue exists.” *Huber v. Hovey*, 501 N.W.2d 53, 55 (Iowa 1993). The district court’s rulings will be reviewed de novo pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.907. “Summary judgment is not a dress rehearsal or practice run, it is the put up or shut up moment in a lawsuit, when a

[non-moving] party must show what evidence it has that would convince a trier of fact to accept its version of events.” *Nelson v. Lindaman*, 967 N.W.2d 1, 11 (Iowa 2015).

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY HELD THAT THE PURPORTED PARTIAL REVOCATION IS AUTHORIZED BY IOWA LAW

A. Partial Revocations and amendments are not authorized by Iowa Code Section 596.7

- i. The plain language of Section 596.7 demonstrates that
“partial” revocations and amendments are not
permitted.**

Iowa Code section 596.7 states in pertinent part: “[a]fter marriage, a premarital agreement may be revoked only as follows: 1. By a written agreement signed by both spouses. The revocation is enforceable without consideration.” IOWA CODE § 596.7(1) (2022). Iowa Code section 596 applies to all premarital agreements executed on or after January 1, 1992, so section 596 governs the Antenuptial Contract and the Purported Partial Revocation. The word “partial” or “amend” appears nowhere in this code section. “Legislative intent is expressed by omission as well as inclusion, and the express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of others not so mentioned. *Meinders v. Dunkerston Cmty. Sch. Dist.*,

645 N.W.2d 632, 637 (Iowa 2002). As the Iowa Court of Appeals noted in *Hansen v. Hansen*, “clearly the legislature chose to omit the right to amend a premarital agreement and we don’t search for meaning beyond the statute’s express terms.” No. 17-0889, Iowa App. LEXIS 921, at *11 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 10, 2018). It defies all common sense and principles of statutory interpretation to read words into the statute that the legislature deliberately left out when enacting Section 596.

Merriam-Webster defines “revoke” as a transitive verb that means “to annul or take back: rescind.” *Revoke*, MERRIAM-WEBSTER, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/revoke>. (last visited Aug. 25, 2023). In other words, two parties revoking an agreement would be returned to their status as if the agreement had never occurred. Merriam-Webster defines amend to mean “to alter formally by modification, deletion, or addition.” *Amend*, MERRIAM-WEBSTER, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/amend>. (last visited Aug. 25, 2023). The plain meaning of the words in Section 596.7 precludes partial revocations or amendments.

Further, a “partial revocation” by any other name is simply an amendment. Mr. Ruesch and David likely styled the 2017 document as a “partial revocation” due to section 596.7’s use of the word revocation. But what we have here in the Purported Partial Revocation is an attempt to amend the Antenuptial Contract, meaning David’s purpose was to leave the Antenuptial contract in place but in an

altered state more favorable to his interests. The Purported Partial revocation seeks to amend and alter the Antenuptial Contract through the deletion of two paragraphs, an action prohibited by section 596.7.

- ii. **The Iowa Legislature has already explored the possibility of authorizing partial revocations and amendments and declined to do so.**

As Justice Mullins stated in dissent in *Hansen*, “[w]e have all agreed the legislature did not authorize amending prenuptial agreements during marriage.” *Id.* at *58. If the express, unambiguous terms of the statute do not convince us and Iowa case law is directly on point, we can look at the legislative history of section 596.7 for unassailable evidence that amendments and partial revocations are not and have never been authorized by section 596.7. In 2010 and 2013 the Iowa Legislature considered amending section 596.7 to authorize partial revocations and amendments. *See* H.R. 2234, 83rd Leg., 2nd Sess. (Iowa 2010); S.S.B. 1196, 85th Leg., 1st Sess. (Iowa 2013).

H.R. 2234 sought to change each reference to a “premarital agreement” in our current code to, instead, “marital agreement.” This makes sense if Legislature seeks to authorize not only premarital agreements but also agreements executed during the marriage. Moreover, H.R. 2234 would have amended section 596.7 from a section exclusively about revocations to one titled “Revocation AND

AMENDMENT.” The very first line of the new 596.7 in H.R. 2234 would have read: 1. “REVOCATION. After marriage, a MARITAL agreement may be revoked, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, only as follows”

H.R. 2234 was not the end of the Legislature’s exploration of possible changes to section 596.7. Senate Study Bill 1196 proposed similar changes to this code section. In 1196, the current section titled “Revocation” would have been changed to “Revocation AND AMENDMENT.” The very first line then would have read “REVOCATION. After marriage, a MARITAL agreement may be revoked, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, only as follows” The district court seriously erred by holding that the current statutory language somehow authorizes amendments and partial revocations. Since the enactment of the IUPAA, the Iowa Supreme Court has never found that “partial” revocations or amendments are allowed. Since the enactment of the IUPAA, our legislators have never enacted changes to Iowa Code Section 596.7 that would authorize either amendments or partial revocations.

Elizabeth’s initial brief and her reply brief discussed these issues extensively. The district court’s ruling fails to engage with the plain meaning of the statute, H.B. 2234 or S.B. 1196 at all. It instead makes the curious finding that the Purported Partial Revocation cannot be an amendment because it is deleting words and sections from the Antenuptial contract instead of adding words. As discussed

above, the word “amend” does not strictly mean adding words. It can also and often does mean the amendment is a deletion of words or phrases. *See e.g.*, *Wengert v. Thomas*, 152 S.W.3d 379, (Mo. Ct. App. 2004) (finding that removing a property disclosure statement from a contract is a valid amendment); *Locke v. Madcon*, 340 S.3d 946 (La. Ct. App. 2021) (overturning an amended judgment on appeal as proper procedure for amending the judgment was not followed but amendment plainly would have been allowed had procedure been followed); *Medtron Software Intelligence Corp. v. Metairie Gastroenterology, APMC*, 278 So.3d 1016 (La. Ct. App. 2019) (involving parties that entered into a contract permitting amendments to the agreement that could either add or remove authorized users and on numerous occasions did remove authorized users; this was not a central issue in this case); *Cross DeBoer LLC v. Seigel*, 202 N.E.3d 420 (Ind. Ct. App. 2022) (involving a seller’s proposal to remove leaseback provision from purchase agreement plainly would have been authorized if the parties had reached a mutual agreement).

To adopt the district court’s reasoning would mean we must believe that the Legislature deliberately included a massive loophole in section 596.7 whereby any post-marital agreement that subtracts words or sections from premarital agreement will be valid. Whereas any post-marital agreement that adds words or sections to a premarital agreement will be void. This makes no sense whatsoever, and we do not

have to pretend that it does. An amendment can either add or delete words from the initial agreement, but if done in the context of an Iowa premarital agreement, Section 596.7 prohibits it.

B. The model rule upon which 596.7 is based authorizes Partial Revocations and Amendments, but the Iowa Code does not.

The model rule, which many states have adopted verbatim, explicitly authorizes amendments to premarital agreements without any consideration. Iowa's code very notably does not.¹ Our Supreme Court has noted that, "our comparison of features of the Iowa Uniform Premarital Agreement Act (IUPAA) and the Uniform Premarital Agreement Act (UPAA) reveals the IUPAA's tendency towards providing more protection to vulnerable parties." *In re Marriage of Erpelding*, 917 N.W.2d 235, 244 (Iowa 2018). The *Erpelding* court engaged in a

¹ In fact, Iowa Code Section 596.7 appears to be unique in comparison to every other state that utilizes some version of the UPAA. Most states follow the UPAA verbatim or very closely in stating that, "after marriage, a premarital agreement may be amended or revoked only by a written agreement signed by the parties. The amendment or revocation is enforceable without consideration. *See generally* Uniform Premarital Agreement Acts of Indiana, Delaware, Arizona, North Carolina, Nevada, Illinois, Florida, Virginia, Kansas, Oklahoma, Texas, Idaho, Utah, Connecticut, California, South Carolina, West Virginia, Montana, Oregon, Maine, Washington D.C., New Jersey, Washington, South Dakota, Hawaii, Alabama, Mississippi, Arkansas, New Mexico, Rhode Island. Colorado, Minnesota, and North Dakota have somewhat unique frameworks for their versions of the UPAA. Colorado defines "amendment" in its statute to mean a "modification or revocation of a premarital agreement or marital agreement." CO. Rev. Stat. 14-2-302 (1). Colorado provides significantly more protections than many states, particularly in that the parties signing the agreement must have had access to independent legal representation and the agreement must have a notice of waiver of rights and an explanation in plain language. *See* CO. Rev. Stat. 14-2-309. In Minnesota, a "post-nuptial contract or settlement is valid and enforceable if at the time of its execution each spouse is represented by separate legal counsel." Minn. Rev. Stat. 519.11, subd. 1a (c). North Dakota will not enforce a premarital or marital agreement if the "party's consent to the agreement was involuntary or the result of duress," if the party did not have access to independent legal representation, if the party did not have access to independent legal representation, the agreement must have a notice of waiver of rights and an explanation of such in plain language and, finally, such agreements are not enforceable if there is no adequate financial disclosure. N.D.C.C. 14-03.2-01 and 14-03.2-08.

lengthy examination and comparison of the IUPAA and UPAA and concluded that both children and financially dependent spouses are “vulnerable parties” that section 596 seeks to protect and that courts should interpret the IUPAA provisions to protect such parties. *Id.*

The arguments set forth by Defendants, their attorneys, and the district court cut in complete opposition to *Erpelding* and *Hansen*. Instead of interpreting 596.7 as providing additional protections to vulnerable parties such as Elizabeth, the district court’s reasoning provides no protections at all to Elizabeth. In fact, this reasoning would strongly encourage sharp and deceptive tactics (like David’s) by spouses during the marriage. If section 596.7 authorizes partial revocations and amendments without any regulatory structure, then once the marriage has commenced what prevents financially sophisticated spouses from presenting their dependent spouse with “partial revocations” or amendments that are grossly inequitable and one-sided? What would stop them from leveraging their marriage or strong-arming their vulnerable spouse? Under the district court’s analysis and conclusion, the answer to these questions is simple: absolutely nothing.

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