IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

ELIZABETH ROBERTS,)
)
PLAINTIFF & COUNTERCLAIM)
DEFENDANT/APPELLANT,)
)
AND CONCERNING)
)
ERIC ROBERTS, AS TRUSTEE OF THE)
W. DAVID ROBERTS REVOCABLE)
TRUST, DAVE ROBERTS GROWTH)
AND VENTURES, INC. & ERIC)
ROBERTS AS PERSONAL)
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF)
WILLIAM DAVID ROBERTS,)
)
DEFENDANT & COUNTERCLAIM)
PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE.)

S.C. NO. 23-1131

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE CRAIG DREISMEIER, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S PROOF BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Andrew B. Howie
SHINDLER, ANDERSON, GOPLERUD & WEESE, P.C.
5015 Grand Ridge Drive, Suite 100
West Des Moines, Iowa 50265
515-223-4567; Fax: 515-223-8887

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

Argument

1. Preservation of error.

Elizabeth states: “All matters at issue in this appeal were timely appealed and properly preserved.” (Appellant’s Br. p12.) Timely filing a notice of appeal does not preserve error for appellate review. *State v. Lange*, 831 N.W.2d 844, 846-47 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013); see Thomas A. Mayes & Anuradha Vaitheswaran, *Error Preservation in Civil Appeals in Iowa: Perspectives on Present Practice*, 55 Drake L. Rev. 39, 48 (2006) (“However error is preserved, it is not preserved by filing a notice of appeal. While this is a common statement in briefs, it is erroneous, for the notice of appeal has nothing to do with error preservation.”). Regardless, David agrees that the issues Elizabeth raises in her brief are preserved for appellate review. See *In re Marriage of Gensley*, 777 N.W.2d 705, 718-19 (Iowa Ct. App. 2009) (holding that an issue not

presented to the trial court will not be considered for the first time on appeal).

2. Standard of review

Elizabeth appeals the district court's grant of summary judgment against her. Iowa's appellate courts "review a grant of summary judgment for correction of errors at law." *Susie v. Family Health Care of Siouxland, P.L.C.*, 942 N.W.2d 333, 336 (Iowa 2020). There were no disputed facts regarding the Partial Revocation – both parties admitted to the existence of the Partial Revocation and Elizabeth admitted to signing it – so the only issue was whether the Partial Revocation was valid as a matter of law. When the facts are undisputed and the only issue is what legal consequence flows from the facts, summary judgment should be granted. *Kennedy v. Zimmerman*, 601 N.W.2d 61, 63 (1999).

3. The district court properly held that the parties' Partial Revocation of their premarital agreement is authorized by Iowa law.

The parties do not dispute the existence and validity of the Premarital Agreement. (App. at 9.) The parties do not dispute the existence of the Partial Revocation, (App. at 54), but dispute its

legal validity – David argues the Partial Revocation is legally valid and enforceable, Elizabeth argues it is not.

Iowa law favors premarital agreements and Iowa courts liberally construe such agreements to carry out the intention of the parties. *In re Marriage of Christensen*, 543 N.W.2d 915, 918 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995). “The purpose of such contracts is to fix the interests of the respective parties in the property of the other.” *In re Marriage of Pillard*, 448 N.W.2d 714, 715 (Iowa Ct. App. 1989). “Antenuptial contracts ... are to be liberally construed to carry out the intentions of the parties. ... [A]ntenuptial agreements differ in no way from other normal contracts. [Iowa courts] construe, consider, and treat them the same as [courts] do ordinary contracts.” *Id.* (citations omitted); see *In re Marriage of Gonzalez*, 561 N.W.2d 94, 96 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997) (“We treat such agreements in the same manner as ordinary contracts.”); *In re Marriage of Barten*, No. 22-0084, 2023 WL 2395324, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 8, 2023) (same).

A. Iowa Code section 596.7 permits parties to a premarital agreement to partially revoke the agreement.

Because David and Elizabeth entered into their Premarital Agreement after January 1, 1992, Iowa courts must apply Iowa

Code chapter 596 in determining its validity and how to enforce it. *In re Marriage of Erpelding*, 917 N.W.2d 235, 238 (Iowa 2018); *In re Marriage of Spiegel*, 553 N.W.2d 309, 316 (Iowa 1996); see Iowa Code § 596.12 (2023); see also *In re Marriage of Shanks*, 758 N.W.2d 506, 511 (Iowa 2008). It is undisputed that the parties executed the written Partial Revocation on December 6 and 7, 2017. (App. at 54.)

(1) The plain language of section 596.7 demonstrates that “partial” revocations are permitted.

Iowa Code chapter 596 expressly permits parties to a premarital agreement the power to revoke a premarital agreement. See Iowa Code § 596.7 (2023). To do so, the revocation must be by “written agreement signed by both spouses. The revocation is enforceable without consideration.” Iowa Code § 596.7(1) (2023). Section 596.7 does not state whether the revocation may be in whole or in part. Elizabeth argues that “revocation” can only mean “in whole” never “in part” because Iowa Code chapter 596 never mentions the word “partial”. (Appellant’s Br. p13.) Thus, Elizabeth claims that a “partial revocation’ by any other name is simply an amendment”, and since amendments have been disallowed by

Hansen, a partial revocation is disallowed. (See Appellant’s Br. p13-14 (citing *In re Marriage of Hansen*, No. 17-0889, 2018 WL 4922992, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 10, 2018).) Elizabeth’s argument is wrong, and the district court’s analysis properly establishes that Elizabeth is wrong.

First, premarital agreements are contracts and are “construed in the same manner as ordinary contracts.” *Shanks*, 758 N.W.2d at 511; *Barten*, 2023 WL 2395324, at *5. As the district court correctly noted, “revocation” in the context of a contract is used when withdrawing an offer prior to acceptance. (App. at 395 (citing REVOCATION, *Black’s Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019)).) In the context of premarital agreements and section 596.7, the term “revocation” is more akin to a “rescission” which is an “agreement by contracting parties to discharge all remaining duties of performance and terminate the contract.” (App. at 395 (citing RESCISSION, *Black’s Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019))); see also Iowa Code § 633.284 (2023) (detailing how a testator may unilaterally revoke a will). Further demonstrating why “revocation” in section 596.7 is more akin to “rescission” is because a premarital

agreement may be revoked only by mutual assent, while a will may be revoked unilaterally by the testator.

The district court's analysis continues:

It is clear that a premarital agreement may be revoked under both Chapter 596 and the common law, but it is unsettled whether parties may execute partial revocations. There is no language in Chapter 596 either permitting or prohibiting partial revocations, and unlike amendments, there is no purposeful exclusion of partial revocations by the legislature evidencing a desire to repeal the common law. Therefore, the Court must look to the common law to see whether partial revocations, or partial rescissions, are permitted.

(App. at 397-398.)

Initially, Elizabeth's reliance on *Hansen* is misplaced. *See* 2018 WL 4922992, at *5. As the district court noted:

Typically, "statutory provisions do not repeal the common law by implication unless the intention to do so is plain." *Iowa Civil Liberties Union v. Critelli*, 244 N.W.2d 564, 568 (Iowa 1976). Chapter 596 has no language that expressly negates the common law regarding premarital agreements and the stated purpose of the Chapter is simply "to make uniform the law with respect to premarital agreements." Iowa Code section 596.2.

The *Hansen* Court [concluded when applying chapter 596, a] premarital agreement "may not be amended after marriage, ... it may be revoked, abandoned, or the rights thereunder waived." This statement is somewhat puzzling as the right to abandon or waive contractual

rights are not granted by Chapter 596, but stem from the common law.

(App. at 397 (citing *Hansen*, 2018 WL 4922992).) Therefore, common law applies unless expressly negated by statutory law.

“Parties to a contract may, of course, rescind it by mutual agreement.” *Novak Equip., Inc. v. Hartl*, 168 N.W.2d 924, 926 (Iowa 1969). “Ordinarily, rescission must be of the whole contract, though there may be partial rescission in case of severable provisions.” *Butler Mfg. Co. v. Elliott & Cox*, 211 Iowa 1068, 233 N.W. 669, 670 (1930); *see Allen v. Pegram*, 16 Iowa 163, 173–74 (1864). “Whether a contract is entire or severable depends upon the intention of the parties, manifested by their acts and by the circumstances of each particular case.” *Inman Mfg. Co. v. Am. Cereal Co.*, 124 Iowa 737, 741, 100 N.W. 860, 861 (1904). The district court properly concluded that David and Elizabeth intended to make the separate provisions of their premarital agreement severable. (*See App. at 48 ¶9.*)

Because section 596.7(1) does not distinguish between revocations in whole or in part, and revocations are statutorily valid, the parties’ Partial Revocation is valid. *See* § 596.7(1).

(2) *Proposed yet unadopted legislation is not binding on Iowa courts and is not evidence that section 596.7 was meant to ban amendments, partial revocations, or otherwise.*

To invalidate the Partial Revocation, Elizabeth cites legislation that was proposed but never passed let alone adopted into law. (Appellant’s Br. p15-16.) In fact, the cited legislation never made it out of its assigned subcommittee. *See* H.R. 2234, 83rd Leg., 2nd Sess. (Iowa 2010) (legislative history); S.S.B. 1196, 85th Leg., 1st Sess. (Iowa 2013) (legislative history). Elizabeth fails to cite any legal authority suggesting that Iowa courts are bound by proposed legislation.

Elizabeth also argues: “Since the enactment of the IUPAA, the Iowa Supreme Court has never found that ‘partial’ revocations or amendments are allowed.” (Appellant’s Br. p16.) In same respect, the Iowa Supreme Court has never found that ‘partial’ revocations or amendments are *disallowed*. Permitting a partial revocation is not a “massive loophole” in chapter 596. Rather, validating a partial revocation is supported by decades of Iowa’s contract law jurisprudence. *See Butler Mfg. Co.*, 233 N.W. at 670 (Iowa 1930); *Allen*, 16 Iowa at 173–74.

B. The model rule upon which 596.7 is based authorizes Partial Revocations and Amendments, but the Iowa Code does not.

Elizabeth refuses to reconcile her paradoxical argument. Though revocations are expressly permitted by section 596.7, Elizabeth argues that revocations in whole are permitted but not in part. For her argument to succeed, she claims partial revocations are not revocations but amendments. Then, as her argument goes, since *Hansen* disallowed amendments, the partial revocation must be invalid. (*See* Appellant's Br. p15-16.) Elizabeth's argument is flawed and not supported by case law as the district court correctly found.

First, amendments are not expressly prohibited by section 596.7. However, the *Hansen* court concluded that amendments to premarital agreements are impermissible because of the differences between section 596.7 and the IUPAA's suggested language. *See Hansen*, 2018 WL 4922992, at *5-*6. When considering how chapter 596 governs a premarital agreement, Iowa courts, in "the absence of instructive Iowa legislative history, ... look to the comments and statements of purpose contained in the [UPAA] to

guide [its] interpretation of the comparable provisions of” Iowa’s version of the UPAA. *Shanks* at 512. “A primary goal of the UPAA was to increase the certainty of enforceability of premarital agreements.” *Id.* at 511-12 (citing UPAA Prefatory Note at 369).

The UPAA, as drafted by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws in 1983, contained a provision expressly permitting amendments to a premarital agreement: “After marriage, a premarital agreement may be *amended or* revoked only by a written agreement signed by the parties. The *amended agreement or* the revocation is enforceable without consideration.” § 5. Amendment, Revocation, Unif. Premarital Agreement Act § 5, U.L.A. Premari. Agree. § 5 (emphasis added). However, when adopting the UPAA, the Iowa Legislature did not include words regarding amendments. *See* Iowa Code § 596.7.

After marriage, a premarital agreement may be revoked only as follows: ... By a written agreement signed by both spouses. The revocation is enforceable without consideration.

§ 596.7(1). That omission is not conclusive.

By deleting the “amended” reference of the UPAA, the legislature left the matter of amendments to the common law. Elizabeth argues that by deleting the language of the UPAA regarding amendments, the legislature intended to make such amendments unenforceable. But, if the legislature intended to prohibit amendments, it could have easily stated that post-nuptial amendments are void. Instead, the legislature excised the proposed amendment UPAA language and did not include it in section 596.7. Thus, chapter 596 generally and section 596.7 specifically are silent on the topic of amendments. The more logical reason the legislature excised the amendment language when converting the UPAA into chapter 596 is that the legislature did not want to upend decades of well-established Iowa contract law about amendments.

According to well-established caselaw, premarital agreements are freely amendable. Since the adoption of Iowa Code chapter 596, Iowa’s appellate courts continue to construe, interpret, and enforce premarital agreements as ordinary contracts. *See Gonzalez*, 561 N.W.2d at 96 (“We treat such agreements in the same manner as ordinary contracts.”); *Barten*, 2023 WL 2395324, at *5; *see also*

Shanks, 758 N.W.2d at 510–11 (Iowa 2008) (citing *Spiegel*, 553 N.W.2d at 316).

Antenuptial contracts — designated in this record as prenuptial contracts — are in no way different from any other ordinary contract. They are to be considered, construed and treated as are contracts in general. Any executory contract, when the rights of others are not involved, may be rescinded altogether or modified, by the mutual consent of the parties. Either party may waive any right thereunder. Those who are qualified to make an antenuptial or other contract are likewise qualified, by mutual consent to eliminate or modify any part thereof, or to unmake the contract altogether, or to substitute a new contract.

O'Dell v. O'Dell, 238 Iowa 434, 455, 26 N.W.2d 401, 412 (1947) (citations omitted).

Elizabeth claims that Iowa Code chapter 596 and caselaw instruct courts to protect vulnerable parties. *See Erpelding*, 917 N.W.2d at 244. Elizabeth then posits that banning postnuptial amendments somehow protects vulnerable parties. (Appellant's Br. p19-20.) Assuming *arguendo* that Elizabeth's position on that point is correct, Elizabeth conveniently ignores that the trial record is devoid of any evidence that Elizabeth is such a "vulnerable" party. (*See id.*) Regardless, that claim is a red herring and inapplicable to

the district court's correct analysis to validate the Partial Revocation that Elizabeth knowingly and voluntarily signed.

Elizabeth then argues: "If section 596.7 authorizes partial revocations and amendments without any regulatory structure, then once the marriage has commenced what prevents financially sophisticated spouses from presenting their dependent spouse with 'partial revocations' or amendments that are grossly inequitable and one-sided?" That argument is wrong. Section 596.7 expressly provides a "regulatory structure" by providing that revocations are only valid if (1) in writing and (2) signed by both spouses. Iowa Code § 596.7(1). The partial revocation here satisfies both statutory elements.

Elizabeth next makes the bald assertion: "The plain meaning of the statute provides *absolute protection* to Iowa spouses against 'partial revocations' and amendments during the marriage by forbidding them." (Appellant's Br. p20 (emphasis added).) Yet, provides no legal citation. A statute that does not mention the word "amendment" or any derivative thereof cannot provide "absolute protection".

4. The partial revocation meets basic contractual requirements and is valid.

Elizabeth argues that, if chapter 596 does not apply to the determination of the validity of the partial revocation, then the “basic contractual requirements” of offer, acceptance and consideration apply. (Appellant’s Br. p21.) Then, as her argument goes, the Partial Revocation lacks consideration, so it is invalid. (*Id.*) Elizabeth’s argument is wrong on several levels.

First, the premise of Elizabeth’s argument is wrong. Iowa Code chapter 596 applies to the questions of validity and enforcement of the parties’ premarital agreement. *Erpelding*, 917 N.W.2d at 238; *Spiegel*, 553 N.W.2d 309, 316 (Iowa 1996); see Iowa Code § 596.12 (2023); see also *Shanks*, 758 N.W.2d at 511. Revocations are permitted by Iowa Code section 596.7(1), which provides such revocations are “enforceable without consideration.” § 596.7(1).

Second, assuming *arguendo* the Partial Revocation requires consideration, Elizabeth ignores that Elizabeth and David executed an “Agreement” simultaneously with the Partial Revocation. (App. at 294 Ex. E.) The parties entered that agreement, which set forth

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